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HISTORY OF THE WOMAN’S AUXILIARY,
SYNOD OF OKLAHOMA*

By Mrs. B. W. Calhoon

In compiling this history of the Woman’s Auxiliary of the
Synod of Oklahoma, the writer is taking a retrospective view of
events covering a period of thirty-two years, having been asso-
ciated with the organization in various ecapacities during this
{ime.

The background of the Woman’s Auxiliary of the Synod of
Oklahoma is unique, differing from any other Synod in the Gen-
eral Assembly, and it is a faetor in the progress of the church
which is the purpose for its ereation and perpetuation.

Oklahoma has three races: a large percentage of Indians, some
negroes and a predominence of whites. Oklahoma was given to
the Indians and was opened in four different sections to white
settlement. These settlers came from every state in the Union,
s0 each community was cosmopolitan in its composition, in church
affiliation as in other aspects, and every church membership was
composed of people from several denominations. Even today there
is a lack of knowledge of church history and doctrine. Thus
speakers at Presbyterial and Synodical meetings, representatives
of the church committees, brought much information and literature
to the women. The missionaries, who not only spoke at meetings,
but for years visited most of the churches in the Synod while here,
had an incalculable influence in spreading knowledge of the mis-
sionary work of the church and inspiration to forward the work.

Many did not affiliate with any church, so Oklahoma had
eight-five percent of its population unchurched forty years after
its opening to white settlement.

Many witnesses can be found among those touched by the
Presbyterian Church U. S. to testify that the Woman’s Auxiliary
has been a tool used of God to enlighten and foster spiritual de-
velopment in their lives.

Mangum Presbytery, formerly attached to Texas, and othei
churches obtained from the Dutch Reform Chureh Board in 1911
form the Mangum Presbytery of Oklahoma. Some churches had
no members who had previously been members of the Presbyterian

1The author wishes to acknowledge the following sources of information for
the material used in the preparation of this article: Synodical Minutes and Oklahoma
Trails; Mrs. W. S. McCaskill, history for 1937-39; Mrs. Le-n Bybee, history for
1945-46, and Mrs. W, A. Rolle, Historian, 1928-33, for excerpts from her report.
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Church U. S. It was a struggle to lead Missionary Societies into
the large field of Auxiliary work.

Three months after the four Executive Secretaries of the
church, the Synodical Presidents, and other representative women
met at the Alba Hotel, Montreat, North Carolina, to perfect the
organization of the Woman’s Auxiliary of the Presbyterian Church
U. 8., nineteen women responded to a call to meet in Central
Presbyterian Church, Oklahoma City, November 14, 1912, for the
purpose of organizing the Oklahoma Synodical Auxiliary. Mrs.
H. P. Winsborough, Superintendent of Woman’s Work, accepted
an invitation to attend this meeting and under her direction the or-
ganization was effected.

Since three Presbyterial organizations were required before
a Synodical could be formed, Mangum Presbyterial was organized
as the first step. Indian Presbyterial had been in existence for
many years and Durant Presbyterial was organized previously.

Mrs. Winsborough acted as temporary chairman and a mo-
tion prevailed that the delegates present from Mangum and Durant
Presbyterials go into the permanent organization of Oklahoma
Synodical and that a cordial invitation be extended to Indian
Presbyterial to join the Synodical organization. A Constitution
and By Laws were then adopted.

Mrs. Wingborough clearly outlined the Woman’s Work in
the church. Officers were elected as follows:

President—Mrs. Kib Warren, Shawnee; Vice Presidents—Mrs.
A. L. Payne, Waupanucka, Mrs. J. M. Clark, Shawnee; Recording
Secretary—Mrs. L. Fountain; Corresponding Secretary—Mrs, J.
Rowland, Shawnee; Treasurer—Mrs. A. L. Payne; Secretary of
Foreign Missions—Mrs. R. M. Firebaugh, Bennington; Secretary of
Assembly’s Home Missions—Mrs. Wallace, Hugo; Secretary of Young
People and S. 8. Work—Miss Catherine Wauchope, Durant (now
Mrs. J. L. Read, Norman); Secretary of C.E.&¢M.R.—Mrs. Maria
Moseley, Bromide; Secretary of Local Home Misstions—Mrs. D. T.
Dunlop, Gotebo;Secretary of Literature—Mrs. E. L. Wilson, Okla-
homa City.

The Executive Board held a meeting in Shawnee, November
10, 1913. President Mrs. Kib Warren, Mrs. J. M. Clark, Mrs. J.
Rowland and Mrs. A. L. Payne were present. The purpose of this
meeting was to elect a Secretary of Y. P. & S. S. work to fill the
office vacated by Miss Wauchope’s resignation and to discuss the
progress of the Synodical.

Mrs. Warren visited the Presbyterial Meetings and set the

machinery of the Synodical in motion through the Presbyterial
and local Auxiliaries. Development was slow and June 5, 1914
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the Executive Committee met in Durant. It was decided to have
a meeting of Synodical the next year with Synod. Those present
were Mrs. Kib Warren, President, Mrs. J. M. Clark of Mangum
Presbyterial, Mrs. C. C. Anderson and Mrs. Payne of Durant Pres-
byterial and Mrs. R. M. Firebaugh of Indian Presbyterial.

The second annual meeting of Synodical was held in Coalgate,
October 28-29, 1915, with every Synodical officer present and
Mrs. Winsbhorough also attended. This was a long stride forward.
Mrs. Kib Warren financed these first meetings, even to paying
the delegates expenses. This was a time of testing, of trial by fire,
for the new Synodical and called for sacrifice and real devotion
on the part of the officers, but these pioneer women were equal
to the demands. Many of the first officers elected did not serve
and this was an added burden upon the president. The big ques-
tion at this time was how to bring the work before the women
of the church and to get them interested. A prayer circle was
formed to ask Divine guidance and help. It was decided to pro-
mote the use of Mission Study books. The need of a systematic
and proportionate financial program was evident so it was de-
cided to make a budget to cover Synodical expenses and to ask
each Presbyterial to supply its relative quota. The following re-
port was given:

“Two years ago at Oklahoma City the Synodical was organized.
The representation at the organization meeting was small, one from
Durant Presbyterial, none from Indian Presbyterial. Four Societies
which had that very day organized the Mangum Presbyterial, represented
the youngest daughter. The outlook was far from encouraging and the
officers elected to carry on the work undertook the heavy task realizing
that only entire dependence on our Heavenly Father could solve the many
problems awaiting them. The results in these two years are most en-
couraging. Mangum has seventeen Societies enrolled with a total of 320
members who gave to all causes of the church a total of $929.00. They en-
rolled sixty-one new members.

The women of Indian Presbyterial are beginning to understand the
Auxfliary plan and to adopt it. They have had the Constitution for
Presbyterial and local societies translated into Choctaw by Rev. Silas
Bacon. Eleven socleties of this Presbyterial have 176 members and have
contributed to all causes of the church $432.00.

Durant Presbyterial has thirteen societies but only four sent in re-
ports which contributed $522.00 to all causes. To summarize, there are
fitty-four societies in Synodical. Gifts equalled $1883.00. We earnestly
request our pastors to cooperate with us in helpful sympathy and prayer.”

Mrs. Warren was reelected President, but later on account of
ill health resigned. Mrs. Winshorough called a meeting in Okla-
homa City to fill the vacancy. Mrs. G. T. Ralls of Coalgate was
elected President and Mrs. Wade Boggs of Shawnee Secretary.
Mrs. Boggs was unable to serve, so Mrs. H. B. Sears of Shawnee
was appointed to fill the office. Mrs. J. J. Read of Wapanucka
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was elected first Historian. In the third year of work the fifty-
four auxiliaries reporting were the largest number in the history
of the Synodical to 1946.

In 1917 Mrs. Ralls conceived the idea of having a summer
Conference. This was while World War I was in progress. She
called 2 meeting of the Executive Board in March 1918. Mrs.
John Scott Johnson, Mrs. R. W. Calhoon, President of Mangum
Presbyterial, Mrs. G. T. Ralls and some of the local women met
in the home of Mrs. H. B. Sears and the Encampment was born.
It was held at Price’s Falls on the grounds owned by the Okla-
homa Baptists in July with a good representation. There were
only two buildings on the grounds, so most of the people lived in
tents and all cooked over camp fires. Mrs. Ralls was ably assisted
by Mr. and Mrs. Sears in the management. Attendance was eighty-
seven. The Synodical financed the first meeting. A permanent
organization was formed, known as the Oklahoma Presbyterian
Assembly, under the control of Synod.

The second year two more buildings were erected including
a kitchen and dining room. The stove was a huge wood stove
and the women took turns in cooking in groups of four. It was
then that Mrs. Ralls introduced her famous Fritters which were
produced by the dish pan full.

Mr, Sears acted as Business Manager and arranged for food
and fuel supplies. He served for six years until they left the
church bounds. Quoting from Oklahoma Trails, ‘“‘Mr. and Mrs.
Sears were both blessed with executive ability, zeal and piety and
served the cause of Presbyterianism in Oklahoma in a splendid
way.”’

The attendance grew from year to year until it reached 160.
The Executive Committees of the Church were generous in send-
ing representatives to help in the programs of the Encampment.

The Synodical meeting was held in Shawnee in October 1916
with a fair representation of the Auxiliaries of the Synod. Mrs.
Winsborough attended this meeting. In 1917 the meeting was held
at Durant, Oklahoma. Oklahoma City Central Church entertained
the Synodical in 1918. In 1919 the meeting was held in conjune-
tion with the Encampment at Falls Creeks, near Davis, Oklahoma.

In 1920 the Lawton, Beal Heights Church was hostess to the
Synodical. Mrs. R. W. Calhoon of Gotebo was elected President
and Mrs. Ross Frazier, Secretary. Mrs. Maria Moseley, President
of Indian Presbyterial, attended this meeting. This year Mrs.
Winsborough made a trip to the mission stations of Latin America.
She went as General Assembly’s representative to gain knowledge
of the work in these fields to give information and inspiration to
the church at large. Mrs. C. E. Everts, Gulfport, Miss., field
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worker for the Woman’s Auxiliary, visited Auxiliaries of Okla-
homa. Due to illness the President was not able to attend Pres-
byterial meetings but attended Woman’s Advisory Counecil Meet-
ing and School of Missions. This year some forward steps were
taken in the W. A. C. to unify the programs and work of the
auxiliaries. Standard constitutions for Synodical, Presbyterial
and Local Auxiliaries were adopted, also a standard of Excellence
and those who attained 100% of the points listed were designated
as gold star auxiliaries. This plan served its purpose to promote
a well balanced program and giving for a number of years and
was adopted and followed with gratifying results by the auxiliaries
of Oklahoma. The Synodical Constitution was also adopted by
Oklahoma.

The ninth annual session of Synodical convened in Indian
Presbyterial for the first time October 18, 1921. Eight of the
fourteen officers and other delegates were present although Ben-
nington is in the extreme southeast corner of the state. Mrs. W.
L. Hickman, Texarkana, Texas contributed much to the meetings
by her talks and counsel. Rev. and Mrs. A. C. McKinnon of
Luebo, Africa were also guests and Rev. McKinnon’s address on
‘“The Dark Continent’’ was enjoyed by a large audience.

The Synodical expressed its interest in Oklahoma Presbyterian
College by contributing the Encampment surplus fund to girls
who were willing to work in the dining room for their board. All
the Executive officers were re-elected to serve one year. This
year the Synodical was pleased to have its own stationery with
officers’ names, another step was to have its minutes printed.
Synod generously offered to have them printed with their minutes
and Synodical pay the extra expense incurred. This plan con-
tinued until 1930.

The tenth annual session of Oklahoma Synodieal convened at
Shawnee, Oklahoma October 10, 1922 with a gratifying attend-
ance. The delegates and visitors represented a large number of
auxiliaries and the Executive Committees representatives included
Dr. and Mrs, H. McCallie of Korea, Miss Charlotte Jackson, field
worker for the Committee of C. E. & M. R. who contributed much
to the program in various ways and Dr. S. L. Morris of the Home
Missions Committee, Dr. J. W. Moseley Jr., Synod’s Chairman of
Woman’s Work, delivered a fine address on Presbyterian Pro-
gressive Program, Miss Ruth MecBride, State Distributor for
Korean Mission Handwork, had a display and sold many beautiful
articles. )

The constitution was amended providing for the election of
officers in two groups each to serve for two years and one group
to be elected each year. This year the idea of a birthday offer-
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ing by all auxiliaries to commemorate the tenth anniversary of
the organization of the Woman’s Auxiliary was conceived by
Mrs. H. P. Winsborough, Superintendent of Woman’s Work, while
visiting Miss Annie Dowd’s School in Japan. The response was
generous and $28,168.57 were given to build a school in Japan
to supplant the inadequate one to which Miss Dowd had given so
many years’ service, and $2,075 were given to erect a gate and
lodge at the entrance to Montreat. Oklahoma Synodical responded
to the call but due to the dire need of the work of Synodical, one
half of the funds were retained for that purpose. Closer contact
with Indian Presbyterial and the understanding strengthened by
the attendance of the Presbyterial at Synodical enabled them to
conform in a greater degree to the Auxiliary plan, undertake
more lines of work and send more complete reports. The Presi- -
dent was called home from W. A. C. by her mother’s illness.

The place for the meeting of the Synodical was changed to
-a joint meeting with Synod to be held at Prices Falls, in an Ex-
ecutive Board meeting held at Oklahoma City in the home of Mrs.
Travis. The plan to retain 50% of the birthday fund collected
for Oklahoma use was again decided upon and the Birthday Mex-
ican Fiesta program to be supplemented by material presenting
the work of Oklahoma Synodical and the President was instructed
to prepare a supplement to present local needs. This plan was
adopted as the years expenditures exceeded the amount received
from the Presbyterials as contingent fees by about 30%. How-
ever the per capita for contingent fee was raised to fifty cents
instead of twenty-five cents.

This year also it was decided at the W. A. C. to count every
woman member of the church a member of the Auxiliary, This
met some opposition but was adopted. Group conferences had
their beginning but only one was held, that in Mangum Presby-
terial. White Cross work was begun, which is the sending of sup-
plies to the Mission Hospitals by the auxiliaries.

Synodieal meeting with Synod at Oklahoma Presbyterian As-
sembly gave opportunity to hear many fine speakers. The Presi-
dent by much persuasion was able to get Miss Carrie Lee Camp-
bell as a speaker and she was greatly enjoyed and appreciated.
Synodical gave a Mexican Fiesta for the children, with candles
and small gifts, Rev. J. H. Wray, missionary from Mexico, assisted.
Stunt night in which the men, women and young people joined
was a scene of much merriment. $10.00 were given to Indian Pres-
byterial for field work. A reception was held for Synodical and
all Encampment visitors. Miss Campbell said she had never seen
greater devotion, more intense heat and inconveniences.

0. P. C., Durant was hostess to the Synodical during its twelfth
annual meeting, October 9-10, 1924. Mrs, L. Fountain was elected
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President. The faculty and students contributed much to the pro-
gram in the way of music and a pageant. Mrs. H. B. Sears re-
signed as Vice President at large as she had moved to Stillwater
where there is no Presbyterian U. S. Church. This was a distinet
loss. Mrs, Sears had setrved in many capacities and always abound-
ed in enthusiasm and love of the work.

The President was presented with a lovely bouquet of roses
by the incoming President at the closing meeting of Synodical.

Mrs. L. Fountain assumed the duties of President of the
Synodical Auxiliary Oectober 9, 1924. Mrs. Fountain was at the
meeting when the Synodical of Oklahoma was organized in 1912
and had kept in close touch with the work continuously through
active service in various capacities. She was serving as President
of Durant Presbyterial at the time of her election as Synodieal
President. The year witnessed the development of Group Con-
ferences which brought many women in touch with leaders and
members of other Auxiliaries. These meetings were both infor-
mational and inspirational.

The Synodical recommended the Big Sister Movement adopted
by the W. A. C. and that the stronger auxiliaries help the new
and weaker ones. Miss Charlotte Jackson from the C. E. & M. R.
Committee office spent some time visiting auxiliaries and young
people’s groups. The Presbyterial presidents planned her itin-
erary in their respective territories.

Synodical meeting was held in Beal Heights Church, Lawton,
October 21-24, 1925. Mrs. H. L. Cockerham attended this meet-
ing through the courtesy of the Home Mission Committee and
proved a most resourceful person; she gave an address on ‘‘Home
Missions’’, reviewed the Home Mission Study Book, ‘“Out of the
‘Wilderness’’, presented her plan for ‘‘Building of the Auxiliary"’
and conducted a devotional service. Mrs. Cockerham could do this
because she combines consecration, thorough knowledge, human
sympathy and understanding with a sense of humor. Rev. J. W.
Allen, missionary to Africa, was speaker for the closing session
and presented the appeal of Africa in a way to arouse the interest
of his hearers, in the work in the Congo. He also showed speci-
mens of the native’s handwork and other curios which gave an
insight into the life and habits of the natives.

The Beal Heights Auxiliary presented a drama ‘‘Oh. Doector’’
showing the need for support for the various church causes through
the auxiliary budget. The Historian, Mrs. S. B. Springs, reported
the creation of a Christian Endeavor district, composed of Choe-
taw, Pushmataha and McCurtain counties in the fall of 1924 known
as the ‘‘Baby District’’. A separate Conference for Young People
v(;ll'.thi;l the Synod was planned during the Encampment at Falls

eek.
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Reports indicate an increase in gifts, Prayer Bands, Mission
and Bible Study Classes, but there was a decline in some other
objectives.

In the years 1925-1926 a gratifying increase in membership
was reported. In volunteers for Life Service, Oklahoma ranked
sixth in the Assembly. There were also more Foreign Mission
Study classes.

The outstanding achievement was the securing of the Auxiliary
Birthday Gift to endow a Bible Chair for Oklahoma Presbyterian
College. Our President, Mrs. L. Fountain, in the name of the
Oklahoma Synodical, offered to give a dollar for each dollar given
by the other Synodicals. The women of the Auxiliary were urged
to give one dollar each, and almost reached the goal. The full-
blood Indians of the state were also solicited and in response
pledged about $25,000. These donors were not Presbyterians but
appreciated the work O. P. C. is doing. The total gift was $42-
573.79.

Mrs. H. P. Winsborough, Superintendent of Woman’s Work,
recommended that each Synodical finance and edit a history of
the Presbyterian Church within its jurisdiction. It was decided
to postpone this project until next year as the time was not suf-
ficient to prepare a satisfactory history for the current year.

The annual Synodical meeting was held in Goodland, October
21-22, 1926. Mr. J. E. Watts, President of the Southwest School
and Home at Itasca, Texas, gave a report of the conditions and
progress of the school. Oklahoma has a responsibility for this
school to which it contributes.

One of the outstanding accomplishments of this year was the
publication of the book, ‘‘Oklahoma Trails’’, compiled and edited
by Mrs. G. T. Ralls. A number of church leaders contributed
to this historical collection which covered all phases of the church
work and will remain a valuable possession of Oklahoma Presby-
terians. For the edition of this book, Mrs. Ralls was enrolled
among the ‘“Who’s Who in Oklahoma’’.

The Executive Committee of Synodical cooperated with Synod
in promoting the ‘‘Laymen’s Convention’’ held in Oklahoma City.
A successful Young Peoples Conference was held at Falls Creek
in July. The promotion of Daily’ Vacation Bible Schools was the
outgrowth of a recognized need and some successful schools were

reported.
Mrs. Winsborough planned to attend this meeting, but through

a mistake in a Western Union message, was not able to make the
trip. By a change in the By-Laws, Art. II, Section I reads: ‘‘No
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member shall be eligible to the same office more than two times
successively.”’

The missionary speaker this year was Mrs. C. H. Smith from
our China Mission. She pictured the life and need of the Chinese
and made a strong appeal for the prayers and gifts of the women
of the church. Mrs. Fountain, who is a member of the Board of
Trustees of the Southwest School and Home, gave instances of
boys and girls who had finished high school and entered into sue-
cessful careers. The Encampment was held this year at Boulder
in the Wichita Mountains Preserve with an attendance of 150.
Synodical requested Synod to continue the Encampment.

The Synodical Meeting was held in Mahota Memorial Church
of Marietta, October 25-26, 1927. Miss Elizabeth Hdrnsberger con-
ducted the Bible Hour periods. Miss Nancy White represented
the Assembly’s Home Mission Committee and presented the pro-
gram and needs of that branch of the church work. Miss White
also gave helpful talks on Auxiliary methods. An historieal
pageant, ‘‘Glimpses of the Past’’, written and directed by Mrs.
Dave Stovall, was a feature of an evening program. Dr. C. D.
Fulton’s address on Mission work in Japan was a high light of
the program.

~ A knowledge of the need for hospital supplies in foreign mis-
sion fields led to the establishment of ‘‘White Cross Work’ in
the Auxiliary. The hospitals were assigned to the Synodicals and
sent lists of their needs. This was a heaven sent idea. It brings
our women nearer the mission fields than any other method.
Oklahoma Synodical fell into line and some supplies were sent
to the foreign field. Mrs. Dave Stovall presented the Synodical
President, Mrs. Fountain, with a gavel made of laurel wood from
Montreat, on behalf of Durant Presbyterial. The President rec-
ommended :

“That we forget what we have done for other people and remember
what other people have done for us; ignore what the world owes us and
think what we owe the world; put our rights in the background, and our
duties in the middle distance and our chance to do more in the foreground.
Trim our lamps so they will give more light and less smoke; to make a
grave for our ugly thoughts and a garden for our kindly feelings with the
gate open”.

Mrs. W. B. Morrison had charge of our Oklahoma Training
School this year which was held at Falls Creek, July 24-August 2,
1927, Credits were offered to adults in Bible and Mission Study
Classes. Dr. Long taught Bible Classes and Miss Van De Vanter
taught Missions. Miss Dorothy Fincher became a Young Peoples
Area Worker in Oklahoma and Mangum Presbyterial assumed a
partial support for this worthy cause. Durant Presbyterial pledged
funds to support a Bible woman in Korea and also to aid a mis-
sion worker in our own state. Indian Presbytery held their sum-
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mer conference at Cherokee Lake and both men and women studied
Oklahoma Trails. Miss Dorothy Fincher was in charge of the
Young People’s conference at the same place. One new auxiliary
was organized in Indian Presbytery.

The Civil War in China, which caused the withdrawal of many
missionaries in China, was subsiding and 100 of the 176 mission-
aries had returned to their fields. Our White Cross Supplies
amounting to $96.37 were sent to Korea.

The Oklahoma Synodical became conscious of the value of
collecting and preserving historical data and records. The His-
torian, Mrs. E. L. Pitchlyn, corresponded with Mrs. Earl Fowler
and Dr. S. M. Tenney, Curator for the Historical Foundation of
the Presbyterian and Reformed Churches of America and began
the process of collecting and depositing in the Foundation, his-
tories of local Churches and Auxiliaries, Presbyterials and the
Synodical.

Mangum Presbyterial was represented at the Summer School
of Missions by its President, Mrs. J. P. Stewart. The Presbyterial
decided to send its President to this school once during her term
of office.

A tota] of four new Auxiliaries was added to the roll of this
year, Oklahoma Synodical stood at the top of the list in per capita
gifts.

The annual meeting convened in Central Presbyterian Chureh,
Oklahoma City, October 16-18, 1928, Miss Dorothy Fincher had
charge of the Bible Hour. As Synod was also meeting in Okla-
homa City, the Synodical joined them in the evening service when
Dr. S. L. Morris of th Home Missions Committee gave the address
of the evening. This closed Mrs. L. Fountain’s term of office
and Mrs. Wilbur Garvin of Lawton was chosen as her successor.
The Synodical presented Mrs. Fountain with a fountain pen and
pencil as a token of their appreciation of her faithful service.

When Mrs. Wilbur Garvin of Lawton assumed the duties of
President, she was imbued with a great love for the work and
faithfulness to her responsibilities. In the spring of 1929 she at-
tended the meeting of Indian Presbyterial at Cold Springs. A
group of the women were talking and smiling and they decided on
a name for Mrs. Garvin. It was ‘“Minco Cheta’’, which means,
““Big Queen’’. Mrs. Garvin was a big woman and the name was
given affectionately. This was her name to them as long as she
served.

The Synodical contributed $50.00 in money as well as its
service to the Encampment this year. The Training School De-
partment was in charge of Mrs. L. Fountain. We lead all Synod-
icals in our per capita gift of $18.00.
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Mangum Presbyterial pledged $175.00 to the support of Miss
Dorothy Fincher a8 Young People’s Worker in Oklahoma. Two
Auxiliaries of this Presbytery, which had not been active, were
reorganized and a new Church and Auxiliary were organized -at
Carnegie, Oklahoma. ’

The Annual meeting was held at Hugo in October, 1929. Miss
Mary Bittinger had charge of the Bible Hour. Miss Dorothy
Fincher gave an encouraging report of her work. Rev. W. A,
Rolle, Superintendent of Home Missions in Oklahoma, gave an
address on Home Missions. Mr. J. E. Watts brought a message
from the Southwest School and Home at Itasca, Texas. He reported
that Oklahoma had five children in the school. Dr. Tenney’s re-
. quest for historical material to be sent to Montreat was presented
and a motion was made to comply with his request.

Rev. Conway Wharton, missionary to Africa, gave a report
of the work and conditions in the Congo. He said that where
Livingston and Stanley first camped, there is a church of 30,000
people. Mrs. Fred Hancock, former missionary to China, but
whose husband is now a pastor in Oklahoma, gave an enlightening
talk on China.

There were 30 Auxiliaries reported in Oklahoma this year
and the membership was increased. A new Auxiliary was or-
ganized at Duncan.

The President of Durant Presbyterial, Mrs. W. B. Morrison,
and Mrs. Wilbur Garvin attended the Montreat Conference.

A new venture in Mangum Presbytery was the establishment
of the Oklahoma Student’s Center for Mexican Young People,
in the Manse of Central Presbyterian Church. It was supported
largely by Central Church. Rev. and Mrs. James Wray, former
missionaries to Mexico, brought a group of Mexican young people
with them when they returned to the United States and have been
responsible for their maintenance. They attended various schools
and colleges.

Indian Presbyterial continued its Encampment at Cherokee
Lake and admitted Dr. John Crockett and Dr. W. A. Rolle into
the Choctaw Tribe. Mr. S. B. Spring, who was Superintendent
of Goodland Indian Orphanage, passed away in April. He was
instrumental in the erection of several new buildings on the campus
and the addition of valuable land. His wife served as historian
for Synodical for several years. The old log cabin home of Gov-
ernor Basil LeFlore, first Governor of the Choctaw Nation, was
moved to the Campus to be used as an historical museum.

Mrs. Fred Haneock was Chairman of the Training School at
Price’s Falls in July. A well organized curriculum was prepared.
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Dr. Alexander of Dallas, Texas, taught the Bible Course. Mr.
Craig taught Stewardship. Mrs. W. B. Morrison conducted the

Missions classes.

Beal Heights Lawton Church entertained Synodical October
7-9, 1930. The innovation of this year was the issuance of the
minutes of Synodical independent of Synod. They were type-
written and were the result of much effort, but it was a step
forward. Miss Irene Hope Hudson visited Young People’s or-
ganizations and Auxiliaries in Oklahoma under the direction of
the Committee of Christian Education and Ministerial Relief. At
the meeting of Synod, Mrs. G. T. Ralls was elected a member
of the Board of Trustees of Austin College at Sherman, Texas.

The highlight of the Synodical meeting was the presence and
guidance of our Secretary of Woman’s Work, Miss Janie Me-
Gaughey, who lead the devotionals and also gave helpful instrue-
tion in various lines. Miss Dorothy Fincher, in her report, ex-
pressed her opinion that the Encampment this year was the best
one yet held.

Oklahoma Synodical led all Synodicals in five points, namely:
per capita gifts to all causes, 50% attendance at Auxiliary Meet-
ings, Home Mission Study Class attendance and per capita gifts
to Home Missions and the Birthday Offering. The Synodical pre-
sented a scholarship for the Goodland Indian Orphanage to be
known as the ‘‘Bella McCallum Gibbons Scholarship.”

The Annual meeting was held in the First Presbyterian Church
of Durant, October 7-8, 1931. Miss Sammy Hogue led the Bible
Study Hour. Rev. and Mrs. Lardner Moore, missionaries to Japan
and former Oklahomans, both contributed to the meetings by their
talks on Japan.

Two Indian boys, products of Goodland, entered Austin Semi-
nary and the Synodical gave $50 to their support. A new plan
for Christian Education and Ministerial Relief reports was recom-
mended by the Woman’s Advisory Committee and was adopted
by the Synodical. The Presbyterial Secretary of C. E. & M. R.
would choose the best five reports sent to her and send to Synod-
ical Secretary of that Cause. She in turn would select the best
one in each Presbyterial and send to Miss Irene Hope Hudson. A
committee would choose the best one from each Synodical and
it would be presented at the Auxiliary Training School at Mon-
treat.

Indian Presbytery presented Dr. R. C. Anderson, of Montreat,
with a large bow and arrow and they were placed over the fire-
place in the lobby of Assembly Inn. A similar presentation was
made to Dr. and Mrs. Robert Currie as a wedding gift. Mrs.
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Currie’s maiden name was Dorothy Fincher and her marriage meant
the loss of her services to Oklahoma. The year saw a new member
enter in the person of Miss Sarah Hamilton as teacher at O.P.C.
Dr. W. B. Morrison had a gavel made from a piece of wood from
the original Le Flore’s Governor’s mansion and Dr. Firebaugh
presented it to the General Assembly.

An outstanding historical incident was the publication of the
book, ‘““The Red Man’s Trail’’, by W. B. Morrison which was used
as a study book by many Auxiliaries.

Much credit is due the Auxiliary of Bennington for their
part in the erection of a new church there.

The Goodland Church was the scene of the 20th annual ses-
sion of the Synodical, September 27-28, 1932. A great effort
was made to have all past Synodical Presidents present, but ill-
ness and other causes prevented. Messages were read from most
of them, however. Miss Sarah Hamilton conducted the Bible
Study periods. Rev. A. R. Craig, missionary to Japan, and a
former Oklahoma pastor, delivered the evening address. Good-
land school students furnished the music. Dr. H. H. Sweets, Sec-
retary of C. E. & M. R.,, was a speaker and delivered a stirring
address. Mrs. R. M. Firebaugh was elected to succeed Mrs. Gar-
vin as Synodical President.

- Mrs. R. M. Firebaugh was the first Synodical President chosen
from Indian Presbytery and was well equipped for this service
by her years spent in Indian Presbytery as wife of a missionary
and her years of service in the Auxiliary, having been one of the
group of officers elected at the organization of the Synodical.

The reports indicated a growth in family altars and prayer
bands this year. The recipient of our Synodical’s White Cross
work has been changed and we now send supplies to Luebo, Africa.

Both the Indian Conference at Cherokee Lake and the other
at Goodland were helpful and well planned. The Training School,
the faculty of which included Rev. H. H. Applewhite of F't. Worth,
Texas who taught ‘‘Studies in Psalms’’; Rev. R. A. Partlow,
Sherman, Texas, ‘‘Personal Evangelism’’; Mrs. Andrew Bramlett,
‘¢ Auxiliary Methods’’; and Mrs. L. Fountain, ‘‘Missions,’’ included
adults, young people and children.

A new dormitory was built at Cherokee Lake. The plan to
give a ‘“‘Joy Gift’’, at Christmas to Ministerial Relief was de-
veloped which bore fruit for many years.

Mangum Church entertained Synodical October 18-20, 1933.
Miss Margaret McMullen conducted the Bible Hour. Dr., R. M.
Firebaugh and Mrs. Andrew Bramlett were guest speakers. An
unusual number on the program was a song by Mrs. R. M. Fire-
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baugh and Mrs. L. A. Lawrence in the Choctaw language. Mrs.
Chris Matheson conducted the Devotional periods.

The comparative chart prepared by the Committee on Woman'’s
Work showed that Oklahoma Synodical maintained its high rank
in per capita gifts and was also first in attendance and held
second place in Christain Social Service Work and in the use of
Prayer Calendars. There was an increase in membership and in
‘White Cross Work. The Historian reported better cooperation
in the task of collecting data and sending in histories. Foreign
Mission Study and Contributions also improved. Mrs. Firebaugh
again acted as Chairman for the Training School held at Price’s
Falls, July 24-August 2. Three credit courses were offered,
namely: Bible, Rev. Chris Matheson; Missions, Mrs. Chris Math-
eson; Auxiliary Methods, Mrs. W. B. Morrison. Dr. W. B. Mor-
rison taught ‘‘Church History.”” Two social features were the
Synodical Party and a reception given in honor of the faculty.

The twenty-second Annual Meeting of the Synodical was held
at Oklahoma Presbyterian College, October 23-25, 1934. Mrs.
T. M. Cunningham, the President of Texas Synodical, was a
guest at this meeting and contributed to the program. Miss Amy -
Robinson conducted the Bible Hour. A unique incident was the
visit of the Auxiliary of the First Presbyterian Church of Sher-
man, Texas.

Miss Janie McGaughey, Secretary of Woman’s Work, again
visited Oklahoma. She addressed the audience on the subject,
““Jesus our Guide and King”’. She also presented Mrs. Firebaugh
a diploma showing her completion of twelve units in the Auxiliary
Training Course at Montreat. This was a meeting of distinguished
visitors. Another was Mrs. J. J. Read, a pioneer missionary and
the first Historian of the Synodical. The Goodland Indian girls
furnished musie for an evening program. Mrs. R. R. Craig di-
rected the closing Bible Study.

The Synodical membership increased again this year, being
958. This was paralleled by an increase in carrying out the pro-
grams of the Auxiliary and in gifts. Indian Presbyterial reported
a good Conference at Cherokee Lake, Mrs. Firebaugh taught the
Bible using ‘‘Studies in the Holy Spirit.”’

The Auxiliaries at St. Matthews and Cold Springs were re-
organized. The President, Mrs. Firebaugh, acting with a com-
mittee of which Mrs. Chris Matheson was chairman, arranged the
program for the Synodical’s Training School, which was held in
conjunction with the ministers and laymen’s Conference at Okla-
homa Presbyterian College, June 18-25, 1935. Platform Bible
Studies were conducted by Dr. Thos. Currie using ‘‘Studies in the
Holy Spirit’’.
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Missions, ‘‘That Other America’’, was under the leadership
of Miss Edith Foster, missionary to Brazil. Mrs. Chris Matheson
taught ‘‘Stewardship’’, and Miss Anne Cameron, ‘‘Planning the
Good Life’’. A Leadership Training Class was directed by Miss
Frances Shise. Dr. H. H. Sweets, Chairman of the Committee
of Christian Education and Ministerial Relief, was also a guest
speaker and spent several days at the Conference.

The contingent fee was under discussion and it was decided
to base the quota on the giving strength of the Auxiliary rather
than on the membership. This was a step toward getting all the
women of the church reported and getting away from the idea of
fee and thinking in terms of a quota.

The Synodical met again at Goodland, October 22-23, 1935.
Rev. and Mrs. C. C. Anderson, of Montgomery, Alabama were
guests of the Synodical and both made contributions to the pro-
gram. Miss Myrtle Williams, Director of Religious Education
in Paris Presbytery, Texas, presented that cause. Miss Edith
Hodgson of Oklahoma Presbyterian College, eonducted the Bible
Study. Dr. W. A. Rolle gave an outline of Synod’s Work.

The newly ordained Indian Ministers, Rev. Oscar Gardner
and Rev. Grady James presented a vivid picture of the life of
the Choctaws and their needs. The death of Miss Janie Me-
Gaughey’s mother was announced.

The year 1935-36 was the Diamond Jubilee Year of our Church.
The President of Mangum Presbyterial attended the Auxiliary
Training School at Montreat. More White Cross Work was done
this year than ever before. Miss Mada I. MeCutcheon, mission-
ary to Chnia, attended the Presbyterial meetings and contributed
to their programs. Indian Presbyterial invited members of the
U. S. A. Church to join in some of their Group Conferences.
More Negro Conferences were held this year.

Oklahoma Synodieal stood first among the Synodicals in
per capita gifts, Prayer Groups and Family Altars. The An-
nual meeting was held in Shawnee, October 27-28, 1936. Miss
Edith Hodgson was Bible Teacher again this year.

Mrs. Kib Warren, first president of the Synodical, was on
the program but her mother pass